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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNITED DEVELOPMENT COMPANY Q.P.S.C. 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  

 

Opinion  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of United Development Company Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together referred as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 

notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 

  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2025 and its consolidated financial performance 

and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 
Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 

International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) as applicable to audits of financial statements of public 

interest entities, together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of public interest entities in State of Qatar, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 

provided in that context. 

 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 

performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 

address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addresses the key audit matter 

Valuation of investment properties 
 

The Group owns investment properties (lands and 

buildings) located primarily in The Pearl Island, State of 

Qatar. 
 

The fair value of Group’s investment properties as at  

31 December 2025 amounted to QR 11,322 million 

(2024: QR 10,102 million), which is approximately 61% 

(2024: 54%) of the Group’s total assets at the reporting 

date. The Group recorded a net fair value gain of QR 

481 million for the year ended 31 December 2025 

(2024: QR 171 million loss) as disclosed in Note 10 to 

the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

Our audit procedures included the following key 

areas, among others: 
 

• We performed walkthrough procedures and 

obtained understanding of the controls relating to 

the valuation of investment properties including 

valuation methods, assumptions and estimates 

used in the valuation of investment properties. 
 

• We assessed the competence, capabilities and 

objectivity of the external valuer appointed by the 

management along with the terms of appointment 

and the scope of work. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNITED DEVELOPMENT COMPANY Q.P.S.C. (CONTINUED) 
 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Key audit matter How our audit addresses the key audit matter 

Valuation of investment properties (continued) 
 

Valuation of investment properties was considered a 

key audit matter due to the significance of the balance 

and the extent of significant judgments and estimates 

applied in assessing the fair values. 

 

 

• With the assistance of our internal valuation 

specialist, we assessed: 
 

- whether the valuation approach and 

methodology used by the management are in 

accordance with generally accepted valuation 

standards practices; and 
 

- appropriateness of the assumptions and data 

used in the valuation such as annual cash flows, 

operating costs, terminal value, growth rate, 

weighted average cost of capital, occupancy and 

market comparable prices where applicable. 
 

• We checked the arithmetical accuracy of the 

valuations on a sample basis. 
 

• We reviewed the adjustments made in the books in 

relation to the change in fair value of investment 

properties. 
 

In addition, we assessed the adequacy of the related 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

including the disclosure of key assumptions and 

judgments. 

 

Other information included in the Group’s 2025 Annual Report  

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2025 Annual Report, other than the 

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other 

information. The Group’s 2025 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s 

report. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

Responsibilities of management and Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so.  
 

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.  

 



 

Page 3 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNITED DEVELOPMENT COMPANY Q.P.S.C. (CONTINUED) 
 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management.  

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit 

work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit.  

 

We also provide Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNITED DEVELOPMENT COMPANY Q.P.S.C. (CONTINUED) 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

From the matters communicated with Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 

or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 

of such communication. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Group, an inventory counts have been 

conducted in accordance with established principles, and the consolidated financial statements comply with the 

Qatar Commercial Companies' Law No. 11 of 2015, whose certain provisions were subsequently amended by Law 

No.8 of 2021 and the Company's Articles of Association. We have obtained all the information and explanations 

we required for the purpose of our audit and are not aware of any violations of the above mentioned law or the 

Articles of Association having occurred during the year, which might have had a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s consolidated financial position or performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ahmed Sayed 

of Ernst & Young 

Auditor’s Registration No. 326 

 

Date: 8 February 2026 

Doha, State of Qatar 
 



 

The attached notes from 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December 2025 
 
 Note 2025  2024 
  QR’000  QR’000 
     

Continuing operations     
Revenue 34 1,931,330  1,032,105 
Cost of revenue  (1,298,494)  (700,417) 

Gross profit  632,836  331,688 
     
Other income 6 112,301  847,882 
Fair value gain on investment securities 14 2,351  982 
Provision of impairment on trade and other receivables 16 (22,707)  (10,500) 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 9 -  (158,201) 
General and administrative expenses 7 (363,787)  (359,571) 
Provision for litigation 35 (295,000)  - 
Sales and marketing expenses  (34,276)  (28,700) 

Operating profit before fair value change in investment 
properties  31,718  623,580  
     
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties  10 480,591  (171,484) 
     
Finance income  50,574  65,812 
Finance costs  (247,407)  (249,331) 

Net finance costs  (196,833)  (183,519) 
     

Net share of profit on associate and joint venture 13 88,877  921 

Profit before tax from continuing operations  404,353  269,498 
     

Income tax 28 (509)  (2,722) 

Profit after tax from continuing operations  403,844  266,776 
     

Discontinued operations     
Profit after tax from discontinued operations 36 -  160,332 

Net profit for the year  403,844  427,108 
     

Other comprehensive income      
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to  
profit or loss in subsequent periods:     
Revaluation of property  (160,737)  - 

Other comprehensive loss for the year  (160,737)  - 
     

Total comprehensive income for the year  243,107  427,108 
     

Net profit for the year attributable to:     
Equity holders of the Parent  431,308  425,924 
Non-controlling interests  (27,464)  1,184 

  403,844  427,108 
     

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:     
Equity holders of the Parent  270,571  425,924 
Non-controlling interests  (27,464)  1,184 

  243,107  427,108 
     

Basic/Diluted earnings per share attributable to  
equity holders of the Parent:     
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 8 0.122  0.120 

     
Basic/Diluted earnings per share from continuing 
operations attributable to equity holders of the Parent:     
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 8 0.122  0.079 

  



 

The attached notes from 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2025 
 
 Note 2025  2024 
  QR’000  QR’000 
Assets     
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 9 1,796,312  1,932,567 
Investment properties 10 11,321,860  10,101,760 
Right-of-use assets 11 1,422  3,076 
Intangible assets 12 5,576  5,376 
Investment in associate and joint venture 13 969,701  941,436 
Investment securities 14 27,915  63,795 
Accounts and other receivables 16 777,666  298,084 

Total non-current assets  14,900,452  13,346,094 
     

Current assets     
Inventories 15 715,270  83,456 
Work in progress  935,006  2,754,417 
Accounts and other receivables 16 923,352  1,058,642 
Cash and bank balances 17  1,109,651  1,433,018 

Total current assets  3,683,279  5,329,533 

Total assets   18,583,731  18,675,627 

     
Equity and liabilities     
Equity     
Share capital 18 3,540,862  3,540,862 
Legal reserve 19 1,770,431  1,770,431 
Other reserves 20 987,272  1,148,009 
Retained earnings  5,287,015  5,061,238 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  11,585,580  11,520,540 
Non-controlling interests  (58,604)  (31,140) 

Total equity  11,526,976  11,489,400 
     

Liabilities     
Non-current liabilities     
Loans and borrowings 23 3,957,589  4,515,956 
Accounts and other payables 24 171,221  147,521 
Retention payable 25 4,045  3,294 
Employees’ end-of-service benefits 26 47,361  47,165 
Lease liabilities 27 1,230  2,060 

Total non-current liabilities  4,181,446  4,715,996 
     

Current liabilities     
Loans and borrowings 23 826,600  501,008 
Accounts and other payables 24 1,874,998  1,763,249 
Retention payable 25 173,325  204,550 
Lease liabilities 27 386  1,424 

Total current liabilities  2,875,309  2,470,231 

Total liabilities  7,056,755  7,186,227 

Total equity and liabilities  18,583,731  18,675,627 

 
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on their behalf on   
8 February 2026 by: 
 
 
 
______________________________ _____________________________ 
Yasser Salah Al-Jaidah Ahmed Ali Al-Hammadi 
President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman of the Board 



 

The attached notes from 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2025 
 
 
 Attributable to equity-holders of the Parent Non- 

controlling 
interests 

 

 
Share 

capital 
Legal 

reserve 
Other 

reserves 
Retained 
earnings Total 

Total 
equity 

 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 

        

        

Balance at 1 Jan 2024 3,540,862 1,770,431 1,208,727 4,779,992 11,300,012  65,923 11,365,935  

        

Net profit for the year  -     -     -    425,924 425,924  1,184  427,108  

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  -     -     -     -     -     -     -    

Dividend paid (Note 21)  -     -     -     (194,748)  (194,748)  (1,475)  (196,223) 

Disposal of a subsidiary 
(Note 36)  -     -     - -   -     (96,772)  (96,772) 

Transfer of revaluation 
surplus - -  (60,718)  60,718  - - - 

Contribution to Social 
and Sports Fund (Note 
22)  -     -     -    (10,648) (10,648)  -    (10,648) 

Balance at 31 
December 2024 3,540,862   1,770,431   1,148,009  5,061,238  11,520,540   (31,140) 11,489,400   

        

Net profit for the year -    -    -    431,308 431,308 (27,464) 403,844 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year -    -    (160,737)    - (160,737) - (160,737) 

Dividend paid (Note 
21) -    -    -    (194,748) (194,748) -  (194,748) 

Contribution to Social 
and Sports Fund (Note 
22) -    -    -    (10,783) (10,783) - (10,783) 

Balance at 31 
December 2025 3,540,862 1,770,431 987,272 5,287,015 11,585,580 (58,604) 11,526,976 

        

 
 
 
 
 



 

The attached notes from 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2025 
 
 Note 2025  2024 
  QR’000  QR’000 
Operating activities:     
Profit before tax from continuing operations  404,353  269,498 
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 36 -  161,236 

Profit before tax  404,353  430,734 
Adjustments:     
Net share of results in associate and joint venture 13 (88,877)  (921) 
Depreciation 9 78,983  167,621 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  (100) 
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 1,485  1,928 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 11 1,026  4,975 
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (218)  - 
Net finance costs  196,833  174,861 
Dividend income  (1,075)  (1,705) 
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 16 22,707  23,252 
Fair value gain on investment securities 14 (2,351)  (982) 
Fair value (gain) / loss on investment properties 10 (480,591)  171,484  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 9 -  158,201 
Provision for litigation 35 295,000  - 
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 36 -  (704,210) 
Provision for employees’ end-of-service benefits 26 10,462  10,048 

Operating profit before changes in working capital  437,737  435,186 
Changes in working capital:     
Inventories  (623,561)  18,387 
Work in progress  960,547  (979,236) 
Accounts and other receivables  (364,408)  283,978 
Accounts and other payables  (167,140)  61,886 
Retention payable  (30,474)  11,462 
Deferred revenue and cost, net  -  5,459 

Cash generated from / (used in) operating activities  212,701  (162,878)  
Finance costs paid  (245,870)  (267,352) 
Employees’ end-of-service benefits paid 26 (10,266)  (12,901) 
Income tax paid  (2,496)  (4,166) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (45,931)  (447,297) 
     

Investing activities:     
Additions to property, plant and equipment 9 (11,405)  (43,115) 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment  -  206 
Proceeds from the sale of investment securities  38,231  - 
Additions to intangible assets 12 (1,685)  (199) 
Additions to investment properties 10 (8,273)  (32,571) 
Finance income received  75,961  84,430 
Investment in joint venture  -   (1,231) 
Movement in time deposits maturing after three months  435,408  (285,245) 
Dividend received from associate and other investees  61,023  4,905 
Proceeds received from subsidiary disposal  -  222,042 

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities  589,260  (50,778) 
     

Financing activities:     
Proceeds from loans and borrowings  283,699  738,084  
Repayment of loans and borrowings  (517,958)  (615,622) 
Change in restricted bank balances  1,414  2,158 
Dividend paid  (196,007)  (198,381) 
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (1,022)  (5,213) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (429,874)   (78,974) 
 

    

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  113,455  (577,049) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  373,464  950,513 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 486,919  373,464 
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United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended    
31 December 2025 
 
1. Corporate information and principal activities 
 
United Development Company Q.P.S.C. (the “Company”) (the “Parent”) was incorporated as a Qatari 
Shareholding Company in accordance with the Emiri Decree No. 2 on 2 February 1999 and whose shares are 
publicly traded. The registered office of the Company is situated in Doha, State of Qatar and its registered office 
address is P.O. box 7256. The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 
December 2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually 
as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in associate and joint ventures. Information regarding the Group’s 
structure is provided in Note 4.1.  
 
The principal activity of the Group is to contribute and invest in infrastructure and utilities, urban development, 
environment related businesses, marina and related services, hospitality and leisure, business management and 
providing information technology solutions. 
 
Pursuant to the Emiri Decree No 17 of 2004, the Company has been provided with a right to develop an island 
off the shore of Qatar for the sale and/or lease of properties. The Company is presently engaged in the 
development of this area known as “The Pearl Qatar Project”. The Pearl Qatar Project involves reclamation of 
land covering an area of 985 acres (4.2 million square meters) into a manmade island and the development of 
the island into various districts comprising housing beachfront villas, town homes, luxury apartments, retail 
shopping complex, penthouses, five-star hotels, marinas and schools with related infrastructure and community 
facilities.  
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2025 were authorised for 
issue in accordance with approval of the Board of Directors on 8 February 2026. 
 
2. Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB). 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land categorised 
as property, plant and equipment, investment securities and investment properties that are presented at fair value 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.  
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals (QR), which is the Group’s functional 
currency. All financial information is presented in Qatari Riyals and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousands unless and otherwise indicated. 
 
Judgments 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart 
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements: 
 
Revenue recognition for sale of real estate units 
In making their judgment, management considered detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue from the sale 
of real estate units as set out in IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers, and in particular, whether the 
Group had transferred the control of the completed properties to the buyer. 
 
Classification of investment property or inventory 
Property is classified as investment property or inventory based on the following criteria: 

▪ Investment property comprises of land and buildings which are not occupied, not held for use by the Group 
in its operations, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but held primarily to earn rental income and 
capital appreciation; 

▪ Inventory comprises of land and residential properties that are held for sale in the ordinary course of business. 
Principally these residential properties represent those that the Group develops and intends to sell before or 
on completion of construction. 

 



United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended  
31 December 2025 (continued) 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Judgments (continued) 
 

Transfer of real estate units from inventory to investment properties  
The Group sells real estate assets in the ordinary course of business. In the event of an actual change in the use 
of the property, the carrying amount of real estate assets is transferred to investment properties and any 
differences between the fair value of a real estate unit and it’s carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income at the date of transfer. 
 

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets for the purpose of determining depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected 
usage of the asset or its physical wear and tear. Management periodically reviews the estimated useful life and 
depreciation method of an asset to ensure that the method and the period of depreciation is consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits associated from the asset. 
 

During the year, the Group has undertaken a revision of the estimated economic useful life of its buildings under 
property, plant and equipment. This adjustment was implemented to ensure that the useful life of the buildings 
more accurately reflects the duration over which these assets are expected to yield economic benefits. This 
change reflects the Group’s commitment to align its accounting practices with the actual utilization and benefit 
derived from its assets. 
  
Management believes that the revised estimated economic useful life reflect more appropriately the economic 
useful life of the assets and are in line with industry practice. If the Group had continued with the useful life as 
estimated during the previous year, the depreciation charged to the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income would have been higher by QR 38 million with a corresponding decrease in the carrying 
value of the assets. It is not practical to quantify the effect of this change on future periods. 
 

Going concern 
Management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 
the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. The Group has been profitable, 
and it had positive net asset (equity), working capital and cash flow positions as at the reporting date.  
 

Lease liabilities - Group as lessee   
Management assesses whether contracts entered by the Group for renting various assets contain a lease. The 
lease identification, including whether or not the Group has contracted to substantially all the economic benefits 
of the underlying asset, may require significant judgment. Establishing the lease term may also present 
challenges where a contract has an indefinite term or is subject to auto-renewal or there are renewal options that 
are unclear if they will be exercised at the option date. The extension of the lease term significantly influences the 
value of the lease liability and the related right-of-use asset, and arriving at a conclusion sometimes requires 
significant judgment calls. Furthermore, once the lease term is established, management needs to estimate the 
future cash flows payable over the lease term and discount them using the incremental borrowing rate that a 
lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. That also requires 
significant judgment and affects both the finance lease liability and the fair value of the underlying asset.   
 

Property lease classification - Group as lessor   
The Group has entered into residential and retail property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group 
has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of these lease contracts, such as the lease 
term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that 
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties and accounts for 
the contracts as operating leases 
 

For the residential property leases contracts where lessee has an option to purchase the underlying property at 
a price that is expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable, 
where it is reasonably certain, at the inception date, that the option will be exercised, the Group transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts 
as finance leases.  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Judgments (continued) 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
The carrying amount of Group’s non-financial assets (equity accounted investees and property and equipment 
but not inventories and investment properties) are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. The determination of what can be considered impaired requires significant 
judgement. 
 
Other provisions and liabilities 
Other provisions and liabilities are recognised in the period only to the extent management considers it probable 
that there will be a future outflow of funds resulting from past operations or events and the amount of cash outflow 
can be reliably estimated. The timing of recognition and quantification of the liability requires the application of 
judgment to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change. Since the actual cash outflows 
can take place in subsequent years, the carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities are reviewed regularly and 
adjusted to take account of changing facts and circumstances. A change in estimate of a recognised provision or 
liability would result in a charge or credit to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in the period in which the change occurs. 
 

Estimates and assumptions 
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are described below: 
 

Fair value of property (land classified as property plant and equipment and investment property) 
The fair value of land and investment property is determined by valuation experts using recognised valuation 
techniques. These techniques comprise Discounted Cash Flow Method and Market Comparable Method.  
 

Provision of slow-moving and obsolete inventories 
Inventories are held at lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an 
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed 
on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed 
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, 
based on historical realisable value.  
 

Impairment of receivables 
The Group uses an expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model to determine the impairment of receivables. 
This impairment model requires forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future 
movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. It also requires management 
to assign probability of default to various categories of receivables. Probability of default constitutes a key input 
in measuring the ECL and entails considerable judgement; it is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a 
given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future 
conditions.  
 
3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
 
3.1 New and amended standards and interpretations adopted by Group 
 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with 
those followed in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024, except for certain standards and amendments applied by the Group for the first-time, which are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 (unless otherwise stated). The Group has not 
early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
 
▪ Lack of exchangeability - Amendments to IAS 21 
 
The adoption of the above amended and improved standards had no impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.  
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3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 
3.2  Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 
issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and 
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 
 
New pronouncement Effective date 
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments - Amendments to IFRS 9     

and IFRS 7 
1 January 2026 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 1 January 2026 
Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity - Amendments to IFRS 9 and 

IFRS 7 
1 January 2026 

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027 
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027 
Translation to a Hyperinflationary Presentation Currency - Amendments to IAS 21 1 January 2027 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 
 
Deferred indefinitely 

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments. 
 
4. Material accounting policies  
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Group’s entities. 
 

4.1 Basis of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent and all its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December each year. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:  
 

▪ Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee);  

▪ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
▪ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.  
 

Generally, there is a presumption that majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 
  
▪ The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee  
▪ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements  
▪ The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.  
 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.   
 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated 
in full on consolidation.   
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 

4.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are 
presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, separately from the parent shareholders’ equity. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. 
 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, 
then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that the control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as 
an equity accounted investee or fair value through profit or loss investment depending on the level of the influence 
retained. 
 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, 
using consistent accounting policies. The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of 
the Parent and its subsidiaries listed in the following table: 
  % equity interest 
Name of the entity Country of incorporation 2025 2024 
Ronautica Middle East W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
The Pearl Qatar Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Hospitality Development Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
The Pearl Souvenir Trading W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Madina Centrale Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Abraj Al-Mutahida Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
United Facilities Management Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Scoop Media and Communication Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Pragmatech Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Glitter W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Insure Plus W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Madinainova W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
The Pearl Owners Corporation W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
United Development Investment Company Cayman Island 100 100 
United Technology Solution W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
Resort and Leisure Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 100 100 
United School International W.L.L. State of Qatar 51 51 
Proman L.L.C. State of Qatar 100 100 
United Medical Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 65 65 
United District Energy International L.L.C. State of Qatar 95 99 
 

*Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C.  
In 2024, the Group has disposed 40% out of 91.06% of its equity interest in Qatar District Cooling Company 
Q.C.S.C., as detailed in Note 35 Discontinued operations. This transaction resulted in a shareholder agreement 
with the buyer which was signed on 20 November 2024. Post the transaction, the remaining interest has been 
recorded as a joint arrangement, as detailed in Note 13 Investment in associate and joint ventures. 
 
Ronautica Middle East W.L.L. is involved in the operation of marina and sale of marine related equipment. During 
2008, the capital of Ronautica Middle East W.L.L. was increased from QR 30 million to QR 100 million. The 
increase in capital was fully paid by the Group, which increased its equity interest from 60% to 88%. During 2009, 
the Group purchased the non-controlling interest of Ronautica Middle East W.L.L., which increased its equity 
interest from 88% to 100%. 
 
The Pearl Qatar Company W.L.L’s activity is real estate investments and the Company ceased operations. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
Hospitality Development Company W.L.L. (HDC) is engaged in the investment and management of restaurants 
and sales and purchases of fast-moving consumer goods in the hospitality sector. HDC consolidates Lebanese 
Restaurants Development L.L.C (100%), Flavours of Mexico L.L.C (100%), The Rising Sun L.L.C (95.68%), 
Wafflemeister Restaurant L.L.C (100%), Isla Mexican Kitchen W.L.L. (100%), Arabesque Restaurant W.L.L. 
(100%), Hospitality Development Company Catering and Events W.L.L. (100%), Chocolate Jar Restaurant W.L.L. 
(100%), Tono Restaurant W.L.L. (100%) and Olio Restaurant W.L.L. (100%) in its consolidated financial 
statements.  
 
United Fashion Company W.L.L. was engaged in fashion retailing. The mandate of the Company was to acquire 
top international names for brand franchising and operating in the Middle East. The Company was renamed as 
The Pearl Souvenir Trading W.L.L.  
 

Medina Centrale Company W.L.L. is engaged in the investment of real estate properties.  
 
Abraj Al-Mutahida Company W.L.L’s activity is in the development of real estate properties. During 2016, the 
name of the company was changed from “Abraj Quartier Company” to “Abraj Al-Mutahida”. The Company ceased 
operations. 
 
United Facilities Management Company W.L.L. was engaged in facility management activity. The Company 
ceased operations during 2017.  
 
Scoop Media and Communication Company W.L.L. activity is in the advertising sector.  
 
PragmaTech Company W.L.L. activity is in providing information technology solutions. During the year 2012, a 
decision was taken to close this company’s branch in Lebanon. 
 
Glitter W.L.L.’s activity is to provide cleaning related services. The Company ceased operations during 2016. 
 
Insure Plus W.L.L.’s activity is an insurance agency and providing technical and risk related services. The 
Company ceased operations during 2016. 
 
Madinainova W.L.L. is engaged in providing registry and master community services at the Pearl Qatar. 
 
The Pearl Owners Corporation W.L.L. is engaged in property management support services. 
 

United Development Investment Company is engaged in development and investment of real estate activities. 
 

United Technology Solutions W.L.L. is engaged in providing information technology solutions. 
 

Resorts and Leisure Company W.L.L.’s activity is in the operation and development of hotels and resorts. 
 

United School International W.L.L’s (“USI”) activity is in the management and operation of schools. Accumulated 
balance of non-controlling interests disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2025 includes QR 33 million relating to 49% equity interest in USI that is not owned by the Group 
(2024: QR 27 million). Loss allocated to non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December 2025 amounted 
to QR 5.9 million (2024: QR 7.7 million). 
 

Proman L.L.C.’s activity is in the management of operations and support services. 
 

United Medical Company W.L.L’s (“UMC”) activity is in the management and operation of hospitals. Accumulated 
balance of non-controlling interests disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2025 includes QR 26 million relating to 35% equity interest in UMC that is not owned by the Group 
(2024: QR 4.6 million). Loss allocated to non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December 2025 
amounted to QR 21.5 million (2024: QR 4.5 million). 
 

United District Energy International L.L.C.’s (“UDEI”) activity is investment in infrastructure projects. UDEI 
consolidates Diarona District Energy Limited (100%) in its consolidated financial statements.    
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.2 Business combinations and goodwill 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the acquirer. If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured 
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope 
of IFRS 9 Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  
If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-
assesses whether it has correctly identified all its assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews 
the procedures used to measure amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results 
in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, the gain is 
recognised in profit or loss.   
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.  
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 
4.3 Investment in associate and joint venture 
 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has a significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control over those policies.  
 
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control. 
 
The Group’s investments in its associate or a joint venture are accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment in associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. 
The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise the change in the Group’s share of net assets of 
the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and is not tested for impairment individually. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.3 Investment in associate and joint venture (continued) 
 
The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate 
or a joint venture. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the 
Group’s other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity 
of the associate or a joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between 
the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or a joint venture. The 
financial statements of the associate or a joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
 
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate or a joint venture, the carrying amount of 
that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the 
investee. 
 
Upon loss of the significant influence over the associate or a joint venture, the Group measures and recognises 
any retained investments at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate or a joint 
venture upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of retained investments and proceeds from disposal 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
4.4 Transactions eliminated upon consolidation 
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from 
transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 
4.5 Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive 
decision makers. The executive decision makers, who are responsible for the allocation of resources and 
assessing the performance of operating segments, have been identified as the Board of Directors. 
 
4.6 Revenue recognition 
 

Type of service 
Nature, timing and satisfaction of performance 
obligations, significant payment terms Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from the sale 
of completed 
properties (land, 
townhouses, 
apartments and villas) 

These are revenue from sale of properties such as land, 
townhouses, apartments and villas. The Group’s 
performance obligation is satisfied when hand over 
certificate of the property is provided to the buyer. 

Revenue is recognised 
when the control of the 
completed properties is 
transferred to the buyer. 

Service charges These are income arising from recovering the cost of 
providing maintenance activities to properties. 

Revenue is recognised over 
the corresponding period. 

Fee income These are revenue arising from management services 
provided to properties. 

Revenue is recognised 
upon rendering of service. 

Rental income These are revenue arising from leasing retail and 
residential units. 

Revenue is recognised 
monthly based on the 
period of contract. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.6 Revenue recognition (continued) 
 

Type of service 
Nature, timing and satisfaction of performance 
obligations, significant payment terms Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from sale of 
goods 

These are arising from provision of food and beverage 
services at restaurants 

Revenue is recognised 
when control over the 
goods is transferred to the 
buyer. 

 
4.7 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Land is measured at fair value. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets 
to the working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the 
site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. When parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment.  
 
Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve 
under Other Reserve in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except where the 
deficit directly offsets a previous surplus on the same asset which is directly offset against the surplus in the asset 
revaluation reserve. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, 
and are recognised net within other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When revalued assets 
are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of the revalued assets do not differ 
materially from their carrying value. 
 
Reclassification to investment properties 
When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is re-measured 
to fair value and reclassified as investment property. Property that is being constructed for future use as 
investment property is accounted for at fair value. Any gain arising on re-measurement is recognised in profit or 
loss to the extent the gain reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain 
recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity.  
 
Any loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity to the 
extent that an amount had previously been included in the revaluation reserve relating to the specific property, 
with any remaining loss recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

  



United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended  
31 December 2025 (continued) 
 

 

-  18  - 

4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its 
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. When significant parts 
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as 
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection 
is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if 
recognition criteria are met. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.   
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted 
for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects 
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Land is not 
depreciated. 
 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 
Buildings, plant and facilities 10 – 50 years 
Building improvements 3 – 10 years 
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and instruments  3 – 7 years 
Motor vehicles and boats 5 – 8 years 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted as 
appropriate. 
 
4.8 Intangible assets 
 
The Group recognises intangible assets arising from corporate branding, a brand strategy development 
arrangement where it has the right to charge for usage of brand strategy, development cost of technical know-
how and computer software. These intangible assets are measured at cost upon initial recognition. Following 
initial recognition, the intangible asset is measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally 
generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in the profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Computer software which is not an integral part of hardware is recognised as an intangible asset and is amortised 
over its estimated useful life of 5 years as determined by the Group’s management. Corporate branding and 
brand strategy development cost is amortised over its estimated useful life of between 8 and 12 years as 
determined by the Group’s management. Development cost of technical know-how is amortised over its estimated 
useful life of 5 years as determined by the Group management. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
4.9 Capital work–in-progress 
 
The cost of capital work-in-progress consists of the contract value, directly attributable costs of developing and 
bringing the project assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. The costs of capital work-in-progress will be transferred to tangible and 
intangible non-current asset classifications when these assets reach their working condition for their intended 
use. The carrying values of capital work in progress are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable 
amount. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.10 Investment properties 
 
Investment property comprises completed property and property under construction or re-development held either 
to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, 
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is 
measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequent to the initial recognition, investment property is stated at 
fair value with gains or losses arising from changes in fair value included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss in the year which they arise. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of investment property. The cost of self-
constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use. Any gain or loss on 
disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the 
carrying amount of the item) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When an investment 
property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount included in 
the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Any expenditure that results in the maintenance of property to an acceptable standard or specification is treated 
as repairs and maintenance and is expensed in the period in which it is incurred. 
 
When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, inventory its fair 
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 
 
Transfers are made to investment property when and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the end 
of the owner occupation or commencement of an operating lease. Transfers are made from investment or 
commencement of an operating lease. 
 
4.11 Borrowing costs 
 
The Group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. For the purpose of determining interest available for capitalisation, 
the costs related to these borrowings are reduced by any investment income on the temporary investment of the 
borrowings. The capitalisation of borrowing costs will cease once the asset is ready for its intended use. All other 
interest is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
 
4.12 Financial instruments  
 
Recognition and initial measurement 
 
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.   
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4. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.12 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Financial assets   
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI); or at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of 
the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL: 
 
▪ it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
▪ its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment 
basis. 
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at 
FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
Financial assets – Business model assessment 
The Group assesses the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to management. The 
information considered includes: 
 
▪ the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include 

whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular 
interest-rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or 
expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

▪ how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 
▪ the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 

model) and how those risks are managed; 
▪ how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of 

the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 
▪ the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 

expectations about future sales activity. 
 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered 
sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets. 
 
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis are measured at FVTPL. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.12 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a period and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity 
risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are 
solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This 
includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount 
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers: 
 
▪ contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
▪ terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features; 
▪ prepayment and extension features; and 
▪ terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features). 
 
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment 
amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 
which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a 
financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual par-amount, a feature that permits or requires 
prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par-amount plus accrued (but unpaid) 
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated 
as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 
 
Financial assets - Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 
At FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest 

or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.  

At amortised 
cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss.  

At FVTOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in 
profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.  

 
Financial liabilities - Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at 
FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Derecognition 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial 
asset.  
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4.  Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.12 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Derecognition (continued) 
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its consolidated statement of 
financial position but retains either all or substantially all risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these 
cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or 
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the 
modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognised at fair value. Upon derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 
extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
4.13 Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts 
and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
4.14 Impairment 
 
Non-derivative financial assets 
 
The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost. The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 
 
Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information. 
 
As a practical expedient, the Group calculates ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix. The Group use 
its historical credit loss experience for trade receivables to estimate the lifetime expected credit losses. The 
provision matrix uses fixed provision rates depending on the number of days that a trade receivable is past due. 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the customer is unlikely to pay their credit obligations 
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held). 
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group 
is exposed to credit risk. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.14 Impairment (continued) 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial 
asset. 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit impaired. 
A financial asset is ‘credit impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
▪ significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
▪ a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 365 days past due; or 
▪ it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 
 
Presentation of impairment 
 
Provision for impairment on trade receivables is deducted from gross carrying value of trade receivables and 
impairment losses relating to trade receivables are separately presented in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group individually makes an assessment with 
respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. 
The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written 
off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of 
amounts due. 
 
Non-financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.  
 
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or Cash Generating Units 
(CGUs). The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 
assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.15 Inventories and work in progress 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the 
weighted average principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs 
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated cost necessary to make 
the sale. 
 
Properties which are being developed and constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business are classified 
as work in progress until construction or development is complete.  The cost of work-in-progress consists of the 
contract value, directly attributable costs of developing and bringing the project assets to the location and 
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
 
4.16 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank balances and short-term original deposits with original maturities 
of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair 
value, net of bank overdrafts, less restricted balances (declared unclaimed dividend), if any. 
 
4.17 Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity. 
 
4.18 Employees’ end of service benefits 
 
Provision is made for amounts payable in respect of employees’ end of service benefits based on contractual 
obligations or respective local labour laws of the group entities, whichever is higher, and is calculated using the 
employee’s salary and period of service at the reporting date.  
 
National employees 
In addition, with respect to national employees, the Group makes contributions to the government pension fund 
to the respective local regulatory authorities as a percentage of the employees’ salaries in accordance with the 
requirements of respective local laws pertaining to retirement and pensions, wherever required. 
 
4.19 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and 
the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and reliably measured. 
 
Provisions are measured at present value of expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, using the rate that reflect the current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risk specific to the obligation.  
 
Provisions are reviewed at each statement of financial position date and adjust to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow resource embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation the provision is reversed. 
 
Onerous contracts 
Present obligation arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable cost of meeting the 
obligation under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.20 Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
4.21 Foreign currency translation 
 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are 
initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the 
reporting date. All differences are recognised in the profit or loss apart from differences on foreign currency 
borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. These are taken directly to equity 
until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the profit or loss. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the date of the initial transaction.  
 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any 
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 
 
4.22 Current versus non-current classification  
 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-
current classification.  
 
An asset is classified as current when it is:  
▪ Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;  
▪ Held primarily for the purpose of trading; or  
▪ Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent unless 

restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period. 

 
All other assets are classified as non-current.  
 
A liability is classified as current when:  
▪ It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;  
▪ It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
▪ It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or  
▪ There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period. 
 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 
4.23 Discontinued operations  
 
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate geographical area 
of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon 
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale. 

  



United Development Company Q.P.S.C. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended  
31 December 2025 (continued) 
 

 

-  26  - 

4. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 
4.23 Discontinued operations (continued) 
 
A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been disposed  
of, or is classified as held for sale, and:   
 

a. Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations  
b. Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area 

of operations   
Or   

c. Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale  
 
Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations are considered as disposal groups and classified as held-for-
sale. Impairment loss on initial classification to held-for-sale and subsequent gain or loss on re-measurement are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The disposal group is re-measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies immediately before 
classification as held-for-sale. Therefore, generally the disposal group is measured at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the 
comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is re-presented as if the 
operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year. 
 
Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single 
amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.    
 
Detailed disclosures are provided in Note 36. All other notes to the financial statements include amounts for  
continuing operations, unless indicated otherwise. 
 
4.24 Cash dividend and non-cash distribution to equity holders of the parent 
 
The Company recognises a liability to make cash or non-cash distributions to equity holders of the parent when 
the distribution is authorised, and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the Qatar 
Commercial Companies’ Law No. 11 of 2015 whose certain provisions were subsequently amended by Law No.8 
of 2021, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is 
recognised directly in equity. Non-cash distributions are measured at the fair value of the assets to be distributed 
with fair value remeasurement recognised directly in equity. Upon distribution of non-cash assets, any difference 
between the carrying amount of the liability and the carrying amount of the assets distributed is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
4.25 Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.  
 
The Group as a lessee 
 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, 
for the leases of property, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease 
and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate 
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received.   
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 

4.25 Leases (continued) 
 
The Group as a lessee (continued) 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date 
to the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis 
as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment 
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.  

 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as 
the discount rate.  
 
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from external financing sources 
and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the assets leased. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  

 
▪ fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;  

 
▪ variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 

the commencement date;  
 

▪ amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and  
 
▪ the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments 

in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties 
for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.  

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there 
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option of if there is a revised in-
substance fixed lease payment.  
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.  
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
The Group as a lessor 
 
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return for a payment or series of payments, 
the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.  
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Under an operating lease, the asset is included in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as property, plant and equipment. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight-
line basis. This implies the recognition of deferred income when the contractual day rates are not constant during 
the initial term of the lease contract.  
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 

4.25 Leases (continued) 
 
The Group as a lessor (continued) 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee are 
classified as finance leases. They are initially recognised as finance lease receivables on the consolidated 
statement of financial position at the present value of the minimum lease payments (the net investment in the 
lease) receivable from the lessee over the period of the lease. Over the lease term, each lease payment made 
by the lessee is allocated between the finance lease receivables and finance income in the consolidate statement 
of profit or loss so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance lease receivable balance outstanding.   
 
4.26 Fair value measurement  
 
'Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.  
 
Number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an 
instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 'active' if 
transactions for the asset or liability take place with adequate frequency and volume to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis. 
 
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.  
 
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets 
and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 
 
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price 
- i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value on initial 
recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active 
market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are 
judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair 
value adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. 
Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument 
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is dosed 
out. 
 
4.27 Income tax  
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or OCI. 
 
Current tax 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, adjusted for any corrections to 
the tax payable of previous years. It is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted (Income Tax Law No. 24 
of 2018 and Ministerial Decision No. 39 of 2019) or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the State of 
Qatar. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. 
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4. Material accounting policies (continued)  
 
4.27 Income tax (continued) 
 
Current tax (continued) 
If applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and there is uncertainty over a treatment chosen by the 
Company that it is not probable that the tax authority will accept, it establishes a provision where appropriate on  
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. Provisions made in respect of uncertain tax 
positions are re-assessed whenever circumstances change or there is new information that affects the previous 
judgements and estimates. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts in the 
financial statements of a Group entity and their respective amounts used for tax purposes 
 
Deferred income tax is not recognised for: 
▪ temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profits; 
▪ temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, to the extent that the Group is able to control 

the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future; and   

▪ taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available against which they can 
be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability for future 
taxable profits improves. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future profits will be available against which they can be used. 
 
Deferred tax assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled using tax rates based on tax laws that have been enacted (Income Tax Law No. 24 of 
2018 and Ministerial Decision No. 39 of 2019) or substantially enacted at the reporting date in the State of Qatar. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on the Group where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
5. Financial risk management 
 
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, retention payable, lease liabilities, 
income tax liability and accounts and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance 
the Group’s operations and to provide guarantees to support its operations. The Group has trade and other 
receivables, investment securities and cash and short-term deposits that arrive directly from its operations.  
 
Risk management framework 
The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, 
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.  
 
The Group audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group's risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 
faced by the Group. The Group audit committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit 
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the audit committee.  
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Risk management framework (continued) 
The Group has exposure to credit risks, liquidity risks and market risks from its use of financial instruments. 
Quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors 
has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and 
investment securities. 
 
Accounts and other receivables  
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The 
demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country, in which 
customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. Majority of the Group’s revenue is attributable to 
customers originating from the Gulf Cooperative Council States. There is no concentration of credit risk 
attributable to a single customer. 
 
Properties sold are subject to retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group may have 
a secured claim. The Group does not require additional collateral in respect of accounts and other receivables.  
 
Accounts receivables are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts. An 
estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written 
off when there is no possibility of recovery. 
 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have adequate liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 
 
The Group uses activity-based costing to cost its products and services, which assists it in monitoring cash flow 
requirements and optimising its cash return on investments. Typically, the Group ensures that it has adequate 
cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations; this 
excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural 
disasters. 
 
Market risk  
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
 
Currency risk 
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currency of Group entities. Majority of the Group’s transactions are 
denominated in the functional currency of the Group’s entities or currencies with a fixed exchange rate to the 
functional currency. 
 
Equity price risk 
The Group monitors equity securities based on the market indices. Material investments are managed by the 
Group on individual basis, and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Board of Directors. The equity 
securities performance is actively monitored and managed on a fair value basis. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of change in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of change in the market interest rate relates 
primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that interest 
rate exposures are reviewed regularly.   
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Capital management  
The capital structure of the Group comprises of issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Board of 
Directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors seek to maintain a balance between the 
higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded 
by a sound capital position.  
 

The Group objectives when managing capital are: 
▪ to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as going concern, so that it can continue to provide return for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; 
▪ to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the 

level of risk; and 
▪ to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest bearing loans and borrowings. 
 

6. Other income 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Dividend income 1,075  1,705  
Gain on disposal of investment in a subsidiary (Note 36) -  704,210  
Sundry income 111,226  141,967  

 112,301  847,882 

 
7. General and administrative expenses 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Payroll and related expenses 144,130  118,926 
Depreciation and amortization 68,442  98,240  
Professional expenses 33,101  37,013  
Directors’ remuneration 12,619  12,361  
Others 105,495   93,031  

 363,787  359,571  
 

8. Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. There were no 
instruments or items that could cause a dilutive effect on the earnings per share calculation. 
 

 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent (QR’000) 431,308  425,924  
    
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to equity 
holders of the Parent (QR’000) 431,308  279,926  
    
Weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year (‘000) 3,540,862   3,540,862  
    
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 0.122  0.120 

    
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) from continuing operations 0.122  0.079 
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9. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 Land Building Boats 
Plant 

facilities 

Furniture, 
fixtures, 

equipment, 
instruments 
and building 

improvements 
Motor 

vehicles 

Capital 
work in 

progress Total 
 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 
Cost or 
Valuation:         
1 January 2024 1,004,633 922,480 7,777 2,411,178 413,380 6,353 3,677 4,769,478  
         
Additions  210  -   337   31,966   10,320   -  282  43,115 
Transfers, net (685,351) 860,521      -     -     -     -     -    175,170 
Disposal of a 
subsidiary (Note 
36) (73,553)  -  -    

 
(2,105,140)  (35,392)  (2,058)  (3,959) (2,220,102) 

Disposals  -     (38)  -     -     (1,908) (1,621)  -    (3,567) 

31 December 
2024 

         
245,939  

      
1,782,963  

      
8,114  

          
338,004  386,400  

       
2,674  -    

       
2,764,094  

         
Additions - 1,761 56 - 8,704 627 257 11,405 
Revaluation loss (160,737) - - -    -    -    - (160,737) 
Transfers, net - (72,967)     -    39,525    119,080 -    - 85,638 
Disposals - - -    -    (31)    (568)    - (599) 

31 December 
2025 85,202 1,711,757 8,170 377,529 514,153 2,733 257 2,699,801 

         
Accumulated 
depreciation:         
1 January 2024 - 154,131 6,802 769,992 329,564 4,787 - 1,265,276 
         
Charge  -     78,599   113   70,840   17,573   496  -     167,621  
Impairment  -    158,201     -     -     -     -     -    158,201    
Transfers, net - (6,907) - - - - - (6,907) 
Disposal of a 
subsidiary (Note 
36)  -     -     -     (715,983)  (31,824)  (1,396)  -     (749,203) 
         
Disposals  -     (38)  -     -     (1,864)  (1,559)  -    (3,461) 

31 December 
2024 

                  
-    

          
383,986 

      
6,915  

          
124,849  313,449 

       
2,328  -    

          
831,527  

         
Charge - 38,492     160    17,099    22,373    859    - 78,983 
Transfers, net - (18,146)     - -    11,724    -    - (6,422) 
Disposals - -     -    -    (31)    (568)    - (599) 

31 December 
2025 - 404,332 7,075 141,948 347,515 2,619 - 903,489 

         
Net book value:         
31 December 
2024  245,939   1,398,977  1,199   213,155  72,951 346  -   1,932,567  

31 December 
2025 85,202 1,307,425 1,095 235,581 166,638 114 257 1,796,312 
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Fair value of land is determined primarily based on valuations carried out by professionally qualified third-party 
valuation companies that are members of a professional valuers’ associations and have the appropriate 
qualifications and experience in valuing these types of properties. The valuation was mainly determined using the 
market comparable approach (classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy) in accordance with RICS valuation 
standards, adopting the IFRS basis of fair value and using established principles and valuation techniques. 
 
The depreciation charge has been disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Continuing operations    

Cost of revenue 13,052  17,239  
General and administrative expenses 65,931  91,337  

Discontinued operations -  59,045 

 78,983  167,621 

 
10. Investment properties 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Balance at 1 January  10,101,760   10,432,175  
Additions during the year 8,273   32,571  
Transfers, net 731,236   (191,502) 
Fair value gain/(loss) 480,591  (171,484) 

Balance at 31 December 11,321,860   10,101,760 

 
The Group leases out its investment properties. The Group has classified these leases as operating leases as 
they do not transfer substantially all risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the assets. Rental income 
recognised by the Group in respect of these leases during the year is QR 373 million (2024: QR 353 million). 
 
Maturity analysis of leases due based on undiscounted lease amounts receivable after the reporting date are as 
follows: 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Less than one year 410,600  449,046 
Between one to two years 284,447  258,313 
Between two to three years 181,034  172,049 
Between three to four years 128,467  109,853 
Between four to five years 86,374  85,901 
More than five years 223,557  264,548 

 1,314,479  1,339,710 

 
Fair value of the investment properties is determined primarily based on valuations carried out by professionally 
qualified third-party valuation companies that are members of a professional valuers’ associations and have the 
appropriate qualifications and experience in valuing these types of investment properties. The valuation was 
mainly determined using the market comparable approach and discounted cash flow method (classified as Level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy) in accordance with RICS valuation standards, adopting the IFRS basis of fair value 
and using established principles and valuation techniques. 
 
Discounted cash flow model considers the present value of net cash flows to be generated from the property 
considering the expected rental growth rate, void periods, occupancy rate and rent-free periods. The expected 
net cash flows are discounted using risk adjusted discount rates. Among other factors the discount rate estimation 
considers the quality of a building and its location, tenant credit quality and lease terms.  
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10. Investment properties (continued) 
 
Average expected market rental growth considered in the valuations is on the basis of IMF inflation projections 
ranging from 2.0% to 2.6% (2024: 2.12% to 2.4%), average expected occupancy rate ranges from 45% to 100% 
(2024: 35% to 100%) and risk adjusted discount rate from 7.22% to 7.72% (2024: 7.26% to 7.77%). 
 
Incremental impact on the estimated fair values based on discounted cash flow method due to 1% change in the 
above input factors, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:  

 
 Incremental effect on fair value 2025  Incremental effect on fair value 2024 

 Sensitivity level 
+1% 

 Sensitivity level 
-1% 

 Sensitivity level 
+1% 

 Sensitivity level 
-1% 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
        
Discount rate (637,217)  702,145  (664,323)   656,282  
Rental growth rate 104,984  (104,984)  19,265   (91,347)  
Occupancy rate 69,889  (72,881)  28,846   (104,095)  

 
11. Right-of-use assets 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Balance at 1 January 3,076   8,810  
Additions 305   2,892  
Derecognition (933)  - 
Depreciation for the year (1,026)   (4,975) 
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36) -  (3,651) 

Balance at 31 December 1,422  3,076 

    
Classified under asset class:    
Building 1,087   1,394  
Motor vehicles 335   1,682  

 1,422   3,076 

 
12. Intangible assets 
 

 Branding  Goodwill  
Operating 

software  Others  Total 
 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
          

Cost:          
At 1 January 2024 14,255  8,867  15,841  4,895  43,858 
Additions  -      -      -     199   199  

At 31 December 2024  14,255    8,867    15,841    5,094   44,057 
Additions -  -  1,685  -  1,685 

At 31 December 2025 14,255  8,867  17,526  5,094  45,742 
          

Amortization and 
impairment:          
At 1 January 2024 14,154  8,867  10,810  2,922  36,753 
Charge for the year  -      -      1,753   175   1,928  

At 31 December 2024  14,154    8,867    12,563    3,097    38,681  
Charge for the year -  -  635  850  1,485 

At 31 December 2025 14,154  8,867  13,198  3,947  40,166 
          

Net book value:          
At 31 December 2024  101    -      3,278    1,997    5,376  

At 31 December 2025 101  -  4,328  1,147  5,576 
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13.   Investment in associate and joint venture 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
United Readymix W.L.L. 10,997   13,021  
Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. 958,704   927,541  
Diarona District Energy Limited -   874  

 969,701   941,436  

 
Details of the investment in associate and joint venture held during the years ended 31 December 2025 and 31 
December 2024 were as follows:  

Name of investment  

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation  

Proportion of 
ownership 

2025 

Proportion of 
ownership 

2024  Principal activities 
United Readymix 
W.L.L. 

 

State of Qatar  32% 32% 

 

Engaged in the production and sale of 
ready-mix concrete and other building 
materials 

Diarona District Energy 
Limited 

 

Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia 

 - 33.3% 

 

To bid for a government cooling 
infrastructure project 

Qatar District Cooling 
Company Q.C.S.C. 

 

State of Qatar  51.06% 51.06% 

 

Engaged in the construction, owning 
and operation of district cooling 
systems. 

 
The movements in investment in an associate and joint venture are as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Balance at 1 January 941,436  16,484 
Additions -  927,231 
Derecognition (664)  - 
Share of profit for the year 88,877  921 
Dividend received (59,948)  (3,200) 

Balance at 31 December 969,701  941,436 

 
Following table represents the summarised financial information of the Group's investment in an associate and 
joint venture are as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Share of associate and joint venture’ results in the statement of 
financial position:    
Non-current assets 887,132   908,915  
Current assets 395,461   391,372  
Non-current liabilities (549,212)   (586,688) 
Current liabilities (121,113)   (132,997) 

Net assets 612,268  580,602 

    
Share of associate and joint venture’ results in the statement of profit 

or loss:   
 

Revenue 287,792  22,688 
Profit for the year  88,877   921  
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14.  Investment securities 
 

 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    

Balance at 1 January 63,795   62,813  
Disposal (38,231)  - 
Fair value gain during the year 2,351   982  

Balance at 31 December recognised as FVTPL 27,915   63,795  

    

Quoted shares inside Qatar 27,915   28,865  
Quoted shares outside Qatar -   34,930  

 27,915   63,795  

 
15. Inventories 
 

 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    

Land and properties held for trading 697,196   68,852  
Material and spare parts 16,784   8,912  
Food, beverage and consumables 1,290   5,692  

 715,270   83,456  

 
16. Accounts and other receivables 
 

 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Non-current:    
Accounts receivable 404,618   108,194  
Finance lease receivables 335,128   170,134  
Long term deposits 37,920   19,756  

 777,666   298,084  

Current:    
Accounts receivable 662,677   731,475  
Advances to contractors 160,614   227,101  
Finance lease receivables 55,222   32,033  
Prepayments and accruals 20,275   43,648  
Others 24,564   24,385  

 923,352   1,058,642  

 

Accounts and other receivables are presented net of impairments, movement during the year is as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Balance at 1 January 71,339   105,477  
Provision of impairment - Continuing operations 22,707  10,500 
Provision of impairment - Discontinued operations -  12,752 
Disposal of a subsidiary -   (54,542) 
Write-off during the year (3,255)   (2,848) 

Balance at 31 December 90,791  71,339 

 

The provision of impairment - continuing operations during the year includes provision of impairment on accounts 
receivable amounting to QR 7,536 thousand (2024: QR 10,500 thousand), advances to contractors amounting to 
QR 7,338 thousand (2024: Nil) and others amounting to QR 7,833 thousand (2024: Nil).  
 
Note 32 on credit risk explains how the Group manages and measures credit quality of the accounts receivable.  
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17. Cash and bank balances 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Cash in hand and bank balances 498,725   351,684  
Time deposits 610,926   1,081,334  

Total cash and bank balances 1,109,651   1,433,018  

Less: Declared unclaimed dividend (11,806)  (13,220) 
Less: Time deposits with original maturities greater than 90 days (610,926)   (1,046,334) 

Cash and cash equivalents 486,919   373,464 

 
18. Share capital 
 
At the reporting date, share capital represents 3,540,862,500 authorised, issued and fully paid ordinary shares of 
QR 1 each.  
 
19. Legal reserve 
 
In accordance with the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No.11 of 2015 whose certain provisions were 
subsequently amended by Law No.8 of 2021, 10% of the profits for the year are transferred to legal reserve. 
Management may discontinue such transfers when the reserve totals to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The 
reserve is not available for distribution, except in the circumstances as stipulated by the Qatar Commercial 
Companies Law No.11 of 2015 whose certain provisions were subsequently amended by Law No.8 of 2021. In 
2006, the Company capitalised QR 57.3 million from the legal reserve in order to issue bonus shares for the year 
2005. 
 
20. Other reserves 
 
These represent revaluation reserve which is used to recognise increase in the fair value of property, plant and 
equipment that were subject to fair valuation. Decrease in fair value is recognised in the reserve only to the extent 
it relates to an increase in fair value of the same asset previously recognised in equity. Additionally, other reserve 
includes undistributable legal reserve related to subsidiaries of the Group. 
 
21. Proposed dividend 
 
The Board of Directors proposed a cash dividend of 5.5% of share capital (QR 0.055 per share) amounting to QR 
194.7 million for the year 2025 which is subject to approval of the shareholders at the annual general meeting. 
 
On 12 March 2025, the Company held its annual general meeting for the year 2024 which, among other things, 
approved cash dividend of 5.5% of share capital (QR 0.055 per share) amounting to QR 194.7 million.  
 
22. Social and sports fund 
 
Qatar Law No.13 of 2008 requires all Qatari listed shareholding companies to pay 2.5% of their net profit to a 
Social and Sports Fund. Pursuant to this Law and further clarifications issued in 2010, the Group has made an 
appropriation of QR 10.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2025 (2024: QR 10.6 million).  
 
23. Loans and borrowings 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Loans and borrowings 4,808,606  5,042,866  
Unamortised costs associated with raising finance (24,417)   (25,902) 

 4,784,189  5,016,964   
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23. Loans and borrowings (continued) 
 
Presented as: 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Non-current liability 3,957,589  4,515,956  
Current liability 826,600  501,008  

 4,784,189  5,016,964 

 
Details of the Group’s loans and borrowings are as follows. The loans carry interest at variable rates of Qatar 
Central Bank repo rate plus margin.  

 

▪ In June 2014, the Group obtained a Musharaka facility for QR 770 million from a local bank out of which QR 
715 million was drawn down. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments from December 2018 to 
September 2026, with QR 626 million repaid as at reporting date. The loan is secured against a commercial 
property. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 89 million. 

 

▪ In December 2016, the Group obtained project finance for QR 730 million from a local bank out of which QR 
628 million is drawn down as at reporting date. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments from June 2021 
to September 2031, with QR 509 million repaid as at reporting date. The loan is secured against two 
residential properties. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 119 million. 

 

▪ In July 2019, the Group obtained syndicated loan facility from local banks for QR 1.25 billion for development 
of mixed-use properties out of which QR 1,196 million is drawn down as at reporting date. The loan is 
repayable from June 2024 to December 2030, with QR 405 million repaid as at reporting date. The loan is 
secured against the mixed-use properties under development. The outstanding balance as at the reporting 
date amounts to QR 791 million. 

 

▪ In March 2020, the Group obtained Ijarah facility for QR 353 million from a local bank mainly for the 
development of residential properties. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments from June 2023 to March 
2030, with QR 84 million net repaid as at reporting date. This facility is secured against the residential 
properties. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 269 million. 

 

▪ In April 2020, the Group obtained Murabaha facility for QR 175 million from a local bank mainly for the 
development of residential properties out of which QR 175 million is drawn down as at reporting date. The 
loan is repayable in semi-annual instalments from November 2023 to May 2029, with QR 38 million repaid 
as at reporting date. The facility is secured against the residential properties. The outstanding balance as at 
the reporting date amounts to QR 137 million. 
 

▪ In April 2020, the Group obtained Murabaha facility for QR 200 million from a local bank for development of 
a commercial property out of which QR 200 million is drawn down as at reporting date. The loan is repayable 
in semi-annual instalments from May 2023 to May 2029, with QR 65 million repaid as at reporting date. The 
facility is secured against the commercial property. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts 
to QR 135 million. 

 

▪ In January 2021, the Group obtained Murabaha facility for QR 105 million from a local bank for the 
development of a commercial property out of which QR 105 million is drawn down as at reporting date. The 
loan is repayable in semi-annual instalments from July 2023 to April 2038, with QR 2.5 million repaid as at 
reporting date. The facility is secured against the commercial development. The outstanding balance as at 
the reporting date amounts to QR 102 million. 
 

▪ In May 2023, the Group obtained credit facility for QR 72.8 million for development of a new hospital project 
and increased it up to QR 107.5 million in July 2024. Out of it QR 81 million is drawn down as at reporting 
date. The loan is repayable from March 2025 to June 2033 and is secured against the property under 
development. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 93 million. As at the reporting 
date, one of the financial covenants was not met; accordingly, the loan has been classified as current liability. 

  

▪ In September 2023, the Group obtained a corporate facility for QR 2 billion from a local bank which is 
repayable in annual installments from April 2026 to December 2040 and is secured against a mixed-use 
property. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 1.87 billion. 

 

▪ In March 2024, the Group renewed a facility for QR 728 million from a local bank which is fully repayable in 
2027. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 728 million.  
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23. Loans and borrowings (continued) 
 

▪ In April 2024, the Group renewed a revolving facility for QR 300 million from a local bank which is repayable 
in 2026 August. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 220 million. 
 

▪ In December 2024, the Group entered into a billateral loan facility agreement for QR 782 million from a local 
bank for the development of Gewan Hotel, out of which QR 259 million is drawn down as at reporting date. 
The loan is repayable in annual installement from September 2025 to September 2036, with QR 3.8 million 
repaid as at reporting date. The outstanding balance as at the reporting date amounts to QR 255 million. 

 
Certain secured and unsecured facilities are subject to financial covenants, which are assessed in accordance 
with the respective loan agreements. The Group has no indications of potential difficulties in meeting these 
covenant requirements. 
 
Repayment profile of the principal amounts of the Group’s loans and borrowings are as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Within one year 829,898   504,404  
Between two and five years 2,444,682   2,509,722  
More than five years 1,534,026   2,028,740  

 4,808,606  5,042,866 

 
The Group has capitalised directly attributable borrowing costs of QR 5.6 million during the year to work in 
progress (2024: QR 77.4 million). 
 
Cash flows from loans and borrowings represent net drawdown of loans in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows as follows: 

 At 1 January  

Disposal of a 
subsidiary 

(Note 36)  Cash flows  
Issue costs 

amortisation  
At 31 

December  
 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
          
2025 5,016,964  -  (229,336)  (3,439)  4,784,189 

2024 5,148,348  (250,431)  122,462  (3,415)  5,016,964   

 
24. Accounts and other payables 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Non-current:    
Master community reserve fund 171,221  147,521 

    
Current:    
Accounts payable 63,313   83,450  
Accrued contract costs 282,993   176,910  
Advances received from customers 232,446   352,115  
Amounts due to related parties (Note 29) 29,944   28,131  
Other accruals 977,275  679,594  
Income tax payable 5,081   6,170  
Other liabilities 283,946  436,879  

 1,874,998  1,763,249 
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25. Retention payable 
 
Retention payable represents amounts withheld from payments to contractors as per contractual terms. These 
amounts are payable upon completion of work and satisfactory discharge of obligations by the relevant 
contractors. 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Amounts due for settlement within one year 173,325  204,550  
Amounts due for settlement after one year 4,045  3,294  

 177,370  207,844 

 
26. Employees’ end-of-service benefits 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Balance at 1 January 47,165   59,175  
Charge for the year 10,462   10,048  
Payments during the year (10,266)   (12,901) 
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36) -   (9,157) 

Balance at 31 December 47,361   47,165  

 
27. Lease liabilities 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Balance at 1 January  3,484   9,868  
Additions 305   2,892  
Derecognition (1,151)  - 
Lease payments during the year (1,129)   (5,657) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 107   444  
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36) -   (4,063) 

Balance at 31 December 1,616   3,484  
    

Presented as:    
Non-current liability 1,230   2,060  
Current liability 386   1,424  

 1,616   3,484  

 
28. Income tax 
 
The income tax expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Change in estimates related to prior year (3,674)   188  
Income tax expense for the current year 4,183   2,534  

 509   2,722  
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28. Income tax (continued) 

 
The tax on the Group entities profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
applicable tax rates as follows: 
 

 
2025 

QR’000  
2024 

QR’000 
    

Profit before tax 404,353  269,498  
Tax exempt profit (362,523)  (244,158) 
Profit subject to tax 41,830   25,340  

Effective tax rate 10%  10% 
Tax calculated based on current tax rate 4,183   2,534  
Change in estimates related to prior year (3,674)   188  

Income tax expense 509   2,722  

 
Impact of Pillar Two Legislation 
On 27 March 2025, the State of Qatar published Law No. (22) of 2024 amending the Income Tax Law No. (24) 
of 2018 in the Official Gazette. These amendments introduce an Income Inclusion Rule (IIR) and a Domestic 
Minimum Top-up Tax (DMTT) applicable to multinational groups, in accordance with the Base Erosion and Profit 
Shifting (BEPS) Pillar Two Global Anti-Base Erosion framework (GloBE Rules or Pillar Two). The GloBE Rules 
in Qatar are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.  
  
These rules incorporate various mechanisms that were introduced into domestic legislation with the aim to ensure 
that large multinational enterprises maintain a minimum effective tax rate of 15% calculated on the profits in every 
jurisdiction that they operate.  
  
The Group has performed a preliminary assessment on the applicability of the GloBE Rules and assessed that it 
does not meet the requirements.  Accordingly, the Group is out of scope of Pillar Two and is not subject to Pillar 
Two top up taxes for the year ended 31 December 2025. 
 
The Group will continue to monitor developments in Pillar Two tax legislation and related regulations in Qatar and 
other jurisdictions in which it operates. The Group will continue to assess the applicability of the GloBE Rules and 
evaluate any potential future impact on its consolidated income statement, financial position and cash flows 
should circumstances change. 
 
29. Related party transactions 
 
Note 4 provides information about the Group structure including subsidiaries and associate. During the year, 
certain transactions have occurred with related parties on the same commercial terms and conditions as non-
related parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.  
 

Balances with related parties and nature of significant transactions and amounts involved are as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Due to related parties (Note 24)    
Orbital Doha Limited  2,133   7,686  
Ruzgar Healthcare Holding LLC 25,539   13,419  
Corinthia Hotels 698  - 
Veera Medicare 1,285  - 
Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. 289   7,026  

 29,944  28,131 
    

Transactions with related parties    
Royalty & signature bonus 20,274  4,322 

Cooling services (15,482)  11,174 

Rental income 10,718  1,050 

Revenue 48,056  - 
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29. Related party transactions (continued) 
 
Details of compensation and remuneration to key management personnel are as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 45,277  65,879  
Post-employment benefits 3,165  3,849  

 48,442  69,728 

 
Directors’ remuneration provided for the year 2025 is QR 12.6 million (2024: QR 12.4 million) included in the 
general and administrative expenses. 
 
30.  Contingent liabilities 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Bank guarantees and bonds 22,371  3,978 

 
The Group anticipates that no material liability will arise from the above guarantees which are issued in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
31. Capital commitments 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
    
Contractual commitments to contractors and suppliers 245,926  895,562 

 
32.  Financial instruments and risk management 
 
Accounting policies for financial assets and liabilities are set out in Note 4. 
 
Financial instruments consist of cash and bank balances, accounts receivable, other receivables, due from related 
parties, loans and borrowings, retention payables, lease liabilities and accounts and other payables. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each counterparty. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date is 
the carrying amount of its financial assets, which are the following: 
 
 2025  2024 

 
Not credit 
impaired 

Credit 
impaired Total  

Not credit 
impaired 

Credit 
impaired Total 

 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000  QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 
        
Accounts receivable 1,067,295 75,620 1,142,915  839,669 71,339 911,008 
Other receivables 452,834 7,833 460,667  246,308 - 246,308 
Cash and bank balances 1,109,651 - 1,109,651  1,433,018 - 1,433,018 

 2,629,780 83,453 2,713,233  2,518,995 71,339 2,590,334 
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32.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Ageing of the accounts receivable and impairments are as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 

 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Provision for 

impairment  
Gross carrying 

amount 
Provision for 

impairment 
 QR’000 QR’000  QR’000 QR’000 
      
Not due 768,215 -              369,037                     -    
Past due for 1 to 90 days 89,180 117                36,201                  298  
Past due for 91 to 180 days 15,300 70                19,975                  427  
Past due for 181 to 365 days 25,722 364                94,117                2,434  
Past due for more than 365 days 244,498 75,069              391,678              68,180  

 1,142,915 75,620  911,008 71,339 

 
The accounts receivable from property sales represents the receivables related to the sale of land and property 
units against which the title to the underlying property is held as a security. The management considers the value 
of the underlying property when assessing ECL provision. 
 
Amounts due from related parties are dues from counterparties that are under the control of the shareholders of 
the Company. As a result, ECL on these receivables is expected to be minimal. 
 
Other receivables are expected to be recovered in full and therefore management does not expect collection loss. 
As a result, ECL on other receivables is expected to be minimal.  
 
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk from accounts and other receivables by: 
▪ evaluating the creditworthiness of each counter-party prior to entering into contracts; 
▪ establishing maximum payment periods for each customer, which are reviewed regularly; and 
▪ periodically reviewing the collectability of its trade receivables for identification of any impaired amounts.   
 
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of its trade receivables from individual customers. 
The ECLs are probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses that are measured as the present 
value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under respective contracts and the cash flows 
the Group expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple present and future economic factors.  
 
Cash and bank balances are not credit impaired as ECL is expected to be insignificant. At the reporting date, the 
Group’s cash balances are held with reputed banks that are independently rated by credit rating agencies, details 
as follows: 
 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Credit rating    
A2 1,903                41,238  
A3 915,385              953,513  
Aa3 191,052              417,306  
Ba2 -                       -  
Other 1,311  20,961  

 1,109,651  1,433,018 
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32.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk 
 

The following are the contractual maturities of non-derivative financial liabilities as at the reporting date. 
 

2025 
Less than  
one year  

Between  
2 – 5 years  

More than  
5 years  Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
Loans and borrowings 968,067  3,031,694  1,944,773  5,944,534 
Accounts and other payables 579,705  171,221  -  750,926 
Retention payables 173,325  4,045  -  177,370 
Due to related parties 29,944  -  -  29,944 
Lease liabilities       596  619  2,055  3,270 
Income tax liabilities 5,081  -  -  5,081 

 1,756,718  3,207,579  1,946,828  6,911,125 

 
 
2024 

Less than  
one year  

Between  
2 – 5 years  

More than  
5 years  Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
Loans and borrowings 752,063   2,628,058  2,762,836  6,142,957 
Accounts and other payables 872,444   147,521  -  1,019,965  
Retention payables 204,550  3,294  -   207,844 
Due to related parties 28,131  -  -  28,131 
Lease liabilities 1,735  896  2,173  4,804 
Income tax liabilities 6,170  -  -  6,170 

 1,865,093  2,779,769  2,765,009  7,409,871 

 
Market risk 
 

Interest rate risk 
At the reporting date, interest rate profile and carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing financial 
instruments were as follows: 
 2025  2024 
 QR’000  QR’000 
Fixed and variable rate instruments    
Time deposits 610,926            1,081,334  

Term loans (4,784,189)    (5,016,964) 

 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s 
profit for the year ended 31 December 2025 would decrease/increase by QR 40.5 million (2024: QR 39.6 million).  
 
Currency risk  
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. All time deposits are designated in Qatar Riyals. The Group’s exposure towards currency risk is minimal 
as majority of the foreign currency financial assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies that are pegged 
to the Qatari Riyal.  
 
Equity price risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), where those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 
financial instruments traded in the market.  
 
Equity price sensitivity analysis  
A 10% increase/decrease in equity prices, with all other variables held constant, would cause a decrease/increase 
of QR 2.8 million in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2025 (2024: QR 6.4 million). 
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33. Fair values of assets and financial instruments  
 
Financial assets consist of investment securities, cash and bank balances, financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss and receivables. Financial liabilities consist of loans and borrowings, payables, and accrued 
expenses.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. Differences can therefore arise between book value under 
historical cost method and fair value estimates. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments 
by valuation technique: 
▪ Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
▪ Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable, either directly or indirectly; and 
▪ Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 

based on observable market data. 
 
The management considers the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements are approximate to their fair values. The entire portfolio of investment securities 
(Note 14) is classified as Level 1, Land under property, plant and equipment (Note 9) and investment properties 
(Note 10) are classified under Level 3 and the reconciliations are disclosed in respective notes. There were no 
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the year. 
 
34. Operating segments 
 
The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. 
The strategic business units offer different products and services and are managed separately because they 
require separate business strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Group reviews internal 
management reports on a regular basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s 
reportable segments: 
 
Reportable segment Nature of operations 
Urban development Real estate development and construction activities 
Hospitality and leisure Investment and development of hotel, leisure facilities and selling of luxurious items 

Infrastructure and utilities 
Construction and management of district cooling systems, managing master 
community and marina activities 

Educational services Providing educational services 
Healthcare providing healthcare services 
Other operations Providing information technology solutions and other services 
 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as described in note 4. 
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34.  Operating segments 
 
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit, as included in the internal 
management reports that are reviewed by the Management. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most 
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length 
basis. 

 
Urban 

development  
Hospitality 

and leisure  
Infrastructure 

and utilities  
Educational 

services  Healthcare  Others  

Inter-
segment 

elimination  Total 
 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
2025:                
Real estate revenue 1,507,760  -  -  -  -  -  (31,081)  1,476,679 
Marina operations -  -  37,461  -  -  -  -  37,461 
Food and beverage sale -  48,934  -  -  -  -  -  48,934 
Others -  -  226,938  94,648   11,149   120,109  (84,588)  368,256 

Total revenue 1,507,760  48,934  264,399  94,648   11,149   120,109  (115,669)  1,931,330 

                
Finance income 39,798  8  10,209   424    -    135   -  50,574 
Finance costs (243,019)  (777)  (178)   (18,003)   (9,307)   -   23,877  (247,407) 
                
Depreciation and amortisation (27,093)  (12,388)  (2,316)  (16,689)   (21,403)   (1,095)  (510)  (81,494) 
                
Net share of results in associate and 
joint venture  (1,020)  -  89,897  -  -  -  -  88,877 
                
Income tax 1,030  (2)  (874)  -  -  (663)  -  (509) 
                
Profit/(loss) for the year from 
continuing operations 445,197  (32,219)  41,774  (12,075)  (61,565)  13,849  8,883  403,844 

Profit for the year from 
discontinued operations  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

                
Segment assets 17,571,373  53,692  935,530   297,449   235,287    142,293   (651,893)  18,583,731 
Segment liabilities 6,884,519  292,685  325,549   364,676   309,876    23,917   (1,144,467)  7,056,755 
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34. Operating segments (continued) 

 

 
Urban 

development  
Hospitality 

and leisure  
Infrastructure 

and utilities  
Educational 

services  Healthcare  Others  

Inter-
segment 

elimination  Total 
 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
2024:                
Real estate revenue 679,961   -      -     -  -   -     -  679,961 
Marina operations  -      -     37,252  -  -   -      -     37,252 
Food and beverage sale  -      49,958    -     -  -   -      -      49,958  
Others  -      -     213,530   73,927    243    112,558   (135,324)  264,934 

Total revenue  679,961    49,958   250,782   73,927    243    112,558     (135,324)   1,032,105 

                
Finance income 54,900  5   10,455    324    -      128   -  65,812 
Finance costs (246,093)  (997)   (285)   (17,579)   (3,829)   -     19,452  (249,331) 
                
Depreciation and amortisation (25,579)  (11,258)   (2,410)   (16,540)   (2,475)   (136)  (57,081)  (115,479) 
                
Net share of results in associate and 
joint ventures 

                       
202   

                         
-     

                       
719   -  -  

 -    
 

                                
-     

                       
921  

                
Income tax (1,216)  -     (961)  -  -   (545)  -     (2,722) 
                
Profit/(loss) for the year from 
continuing operations  264,570  (41,558)  47,038  (15,694)  (12,773)  13,346   11,847  266,776  

Profit for the year from discontinued 
operations  

  
-     

 
 -     

 
149,266  -  -  

 
 -     

  
11,066     

 
160,332 

                
Segment assets 17,739,904  57,723  1,015,129  327,593  150,490  128,830  (744,042)  18,675,627 
Segment liabilities 7,137,394  264,502  453,377  382,744  163,514  20,802  (1,236,106)  7,186,227 

                
 
Geographical segments 
 
The Group does not have any material operations outside Qatar. Accordingly, there are no distinctly identifiable geographical segments in the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2025.
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35. Litigations  
 
The provision relates to a court case between the Company and a developer wherein the developer filed a case 
against the Company and the Company filed a counterclaim against the developer each seeking compensation 
for recovery of costs incurred and damages suffered. The case was decreed in favour of the developer which has 
been appealed by the Company which was rejected in the cessation court. Based on the assessment of the 
Company's lawyers, the maximum liability has been provided. 
 
In addition, the Group is the plaintiff or defendant in several other legal cases where management does not expect 
the outcome to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2025. 
 
36. Discontinued operations 

 
On 20 November 2024, the Group has completed the disposal of 40% of its equity interest in Qatar District Cooling 
Company Q.C.S.C. This transaction involved signing of shareholder agreement with the buyer, resulting to the 
loss of control of Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. by the Group. 
 
Consequently, Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. has been reported as a discontinued operation. The 
financial results of Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. are presented below: 
 
 2024 
 QR’000 
  
Revenue 471,229 
Cost of revenue (265,580) 

Gross profit 205,649 
  
Provision for impairment on trade receivables (12,752) 
General and administrative expenses (39,560) 
Sales and marketing expenses (759) 

Operating profit  152,578 
  
Finance income 25,366 
Finance costs (16,708) 

Net finance costs 8,658 
  
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 161,236 
  
Income tax (904) 

Profit after tax from discontinued operations 160,332 

  
Other comprehensive income from discontinued operations  
Other comprehensive income for the year - 
  

Total comprehensive income for the year from discontinued 
operations 160,332 

  
  
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:  
Equity holders of the Parent from discontinued operations 145,998 
Non-controlling interests from discontinued operations 14,334 

 160,332 

 
  
Basic/Diluted earnings per share from discontinuing operations 
attributable to equity holders of the Parent:  
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 0.041 
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36. Discontinued operations (continued) 
 
The net cash flows incurred by Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. are, as follows;  
 
 2024 
 QR’000 
  
Operating 174,413 
Investing (461,533) 
Financing (32,205) 

Net decrease in cash generated (319,325) 

  
 
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of Qatar District Cooling Company Q.C.S.C. as at the date of loss 
of control were as follows: 
 2024 
 QR’000 
Assets  
   

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 1,470,899 
Right-of-use assets 3,651 
Accounts and other receivables 26,400 
Deferred costs 105,788 

Total non-current assets 1,606,738 

   
Current assets  
Inventories 12,894 
Accounts and other receivables 115,080  
Deferred costs 15,187 
Cash and bank balances 571,358 

Total current assets 714,519 
   

Total assets  2,321,257  

   
Liabilities  
   

Non-current liabilities  
Loans and borrowings 202,363 
Accounts and other payables 133,604 
Retention payable 1,673 
Deferred revenue 623,718 
Employees' end-of-service benefits 9,157 
Lease liabilities 3,599 

Total non-current liabilities 974,114 

   
Current liabilities  
Loans and borrowings 48,068 
Accounts and other payables  108,782 
Retention payable 9,688 
Deferred revenue 68,179 
Lease liabilities 464 

Total current liabilities 235,181 
   

Total liabilities  1,209,295  

   
Value of the net assets as of the date of loss of control 1,111,962  
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36. Discontinued operations (continued) 
 
Gain on disposal of investments in subsidiary 
 2024 
 QR’000 
  
Consideration received by cash 793,400 
Fair value of interest retained by the Group 926,000 
   

Carrying amount of the subsidiary  
     Value of the net assets as of the date of loss of control 1,111,962  
     Non-controlling interests (96,772)  
   

Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiary 704,210 

 


